IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 74,775

JOEL DALE WRIGHT,

Appellant,

versus

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PUTNAM COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARRY HELM SPALDING Capital Collateral Representative Florida Bar No. 0125540

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Deputy Chief Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0754773

K. LESLIE DELK Staff Attorney

BRET B. STRAND Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 780431

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 487-4376

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On April 22, 1983, Joel Dale (Jody) Wright was indicted for murder in the first degree, as well as sexual battery, burglary and second degree grand theft (R. 5). He was charged with killing Lima Paige Smith. Ms. Smith had been found stabbed to death in her residence on February 6, 1983, in Palatka, Florida.

Ms. Smith, a seventy-five year old school teacher had lived next door to the Wrights for many years (R. 1583). Jody, the seventh of eight children, was born August 28, 1957 (R. 2968, T.63). He and his family had always gotten along well with Ms. Smith even though Ms. Smith was a bit ecentric (T. 66). Over the years, her house had become piled with debris; this included newspapers, groceries, empty cat and dog food containers, etc. (R. 1534). The debris was between one and three feet deep through the house (R. 2305). The residence also lacked running water (R. 1597). Frequently Ms. Smith would sit in her car as opposed to her house (R. 1611). She would grade papers there. Sometimes she would just sit in the car reading or eating. (Id.) She generally left a back window in her house open so that her cats could come in and out (R. 1612).

On February 6, 1983, at 4:15 p.m. the Putnam County Sheriff's Office received a call from Earl Smith, Ms. Smith's brother. Mr. Smith, who lived across the street from Ms. Smith, had just discovered her body in her bedroom (R. 1628). Sheriff officers entered the residence and found Ms. Smith's body in a crevice ("not over six inches" R. 1600) between the bed and wall of her bedroom (R 1647). Ms. Smith had twelve stab wounds in the left side of her face and neck (R 1739, 1816). Additionally Ms. Smith had a laceration on the back wall of the vagina (R. 1820). From the blood flow it appeared Ms. Smith had been standing at the time of the injuries, and then subsequently fell into the narrow space between the wall and the bed. (Id.) Ms. Smith died as a result of the stab wounds which caused bleeding into her lungs (R 1821). The stab wounds were consistent with a pocket knife - "a sharp-edged weapon about, oh, a half-

an-inch in width and an eight of an inch in thickness, and not particularly long" (R. 1822). Located on top of Ms. Smith's exposed abdomen was a Hershey candy bar (R. 1728). Also found nearby was a used condom, and "a prophylactic box and an open prophylactic pack" (T. 347).

The medical examiner who examined Ms. Smith's body testified that in his opinion Ms. Smith's assailant was standing in front of her when the injuries were inflicted (R. 1834). Thereafter she fell backwards into the narrow crevice between the wall and the bed. The medical examiner concluded that in all likelihood Ms. Smith was stabbed to death by "a person who was right-handed" (R. 1834). However, Jody Wright was and is left-handed (R. 2476).

Following the discovery of Ms. Smith's body many potential suspects were questioned and given polygraph examinations. When these individuals passed the polygraph examination, they were dismissed as suspects. This list of people included Jody Wright, Clayton Strickland, and Henry Jackson; who all lived in Ms. Smith's neighborhood and all three of which passed polygraph examinations.

On April 18, 1983, Jody Wright was arrested and charged with the murder of Ms. Smith. The arrest was prompted by a sworn statement by Paige Westberry that her estranged husband had told her that Jody Wright had confessed the murder to him.³ Paige said that Charles Westberry who was living with another woman, told

¹At about 2:00 or 3:00 p.m. on the afternoon that Earl Smith discovered Ms. Smith's body, one of the two neighborhood drunks, Clayton Strickland, sold Earl Smith a pocketknife for \$5.00.

²Semen was found in the vagina. The presence of condoms, including a used one, would be consistent with two assailants.

³Following Paige Westberry's report, the police ran Jody Wright's fingerprints against latent prints of value lifted from Ms. Smith's house. One print matched; this was the only physical evidence linking Jody to the crime. Jody Wright at trial explained that he had entered Ms. Smith's house a month or so before her death. He and a friend had entered through the open window just to look around. In fact the State called Jody's companion and presented the prior entry as Williams rule evidence. This friend testified that they found a "dollar and some change" in the garbage (R. 2392). However at trial law enforcement had still not been able to identify three palm points and one finger (continued...)

her of Jody Wright's confession on Friday night, April 15, 1983.

Charles told me of some difficulty that Jody Wright was trying to cause between Charles and some of his friends. Charles said that Jody had a lot of nerve to get him in trouble when Charles said he had enough shit to put him under the jail. I asked Charles what he meant. Charles then said I mean big time stuff I said what. Charles said I'm talking about murder. I told Charles that I did not want to hear any more. Then Charles said that he had to tell me; he wanted to get it of his chest, and that he had been wanting to tell me for a long time. Charles said that Jody was the one that killed Miss Smith. I asked him why Charles said that Jody broke in to her house and while he was there, she woke up. She knew him, he couldn't run so he had to kill her. I asked Charles how did he kill her. Charles said he used a kitchen knife and cut her throat. Charles then said that I wouldn't believe some of the things that he done to her. I asked him what kind of things and Charles said things that are so bad that I don't want to talk about them. I asked Charles how he knew about it. Charles said that Jody had come to his trailer about 7:00 to 7:30 that Sunday morning. Jody knocked on the door. When Charles didn't answer, Jody went around to Charles' bedroom window, knocked on the window and told Charles to get up and open the door. Charles said that he got up and went to the door. When he opened the door, he saw that Jody was covered with blood. Charles thought that Jody had been in an accident. Jody wanted Charles to go outside. It was cold so they got in to Charles' truck. When they got in the truck, Jody started pulling money out of both his pockets. Charles said that there was approximately \$243.00 in small bills. Charles asked Jody where he got it and and Jody told him that he had broken in to Ms. Smith's house. Then Charles asked Jody how did you get all the blood on you, how did you get hurt. Jody said she woke up when I was in there. Charles said so you ran and Jody told him no, I had to kill her because she knew who I was.

After Paige Westberry had given her statement, Charles Westberry was arrested on charges of accessory to murder. Mr. Westberry then gave a sworn statement that Jody Wright had claimed to have cut Ms. Smith's throat after she discovered him going through her purse. Mr. Westberry claimed Jody had gotten \$290, which he displayed to Mr. Westberry from the purse as well as a jar of change; this up from the \$243 that he related to Paige. Mr. Westberry also

or int which had been lifted from Ms. Smith's house (R. 2051). The state never compared these prints to the known prints of Clayton Strickland or Henry Jackson (T. 1003). Also of note, no prints of Ms. Smith were found in the house (R. 2058). The condition of the house was such that none of her prints were present.

⁴Again, Ms. Smith's throat was not cut, she was stabbed to death.

claimed that Jody had said there was no rape. According to Mr. Westberry's statement to the police, Jody had just a little bit of blood on him when he arrived at Mr. Westberry's on the morning of February 6, 1983. "[Y] on could see the blood, kind of a blood stain, like he might have tried to wipe it off but he didn't wipe it all off" (R. 278-79). Again, this is at variance with what Mr. Westberry had told Paige.

Mr. Westberry's story must also be compared to what others around him recalled. On February 6, 1983, Charles Westberry was living with Denise Easter and his brother, Allen Westberry and Allen's wife, Beverly, in Allen's trailer home. It was Allen's and Beverly's practice to leave the door to the trailer unlocked at night (R. 1924-25). Ms. Easter recalled that she and Charles had gone out on the night of February 5, 1983, and did not retire to bed until 1:00 or 2:00 a.m. (Id.) Ms. Easter recalled that Charles had gotten up sometime the next morning to get coffee, but returned to bed five minutes later (R. 1925-26). When she got up about 9:00 a.m., Jody Wright was asleep on the couch in the living room (R. 1927). This was not an unusual occurrence. That morning, Jody did not have blood on his clothing (Id.). Later, Ms. Easter, Charles, and Jody went fishing. During the outing, Ms. Easter noticed that Jody had about thirty one dollar-bills on his person. Allen Westberry testified that when he arose at approximately 7:00 a.m., Jody Wright was sitting on the living room couch already having been awaken by Allen's small son, Travis (R. 1944-45). Allen did not notice any blood on Jody (R. 1946). Beverly recalled that when she got up about 6:30 a.m., Jody was still sleeping on the couch (R-195). She did not see anything looking like blood on his person or clothing (R. 1957).

⁵Testimony from Mr. Wright himself, and other witnesses established that on the evening of February 5, 1983, he had been playing poker and had won approximately thirty dollars (R. 1874).

On February 8, 1983, when Charles Westberry had been originally interviewed by law enforcement personnel, he told them that Jody had arrived at the trailer at approximately 1:00 a.m.; he thus knew he was Jody's alibi. According to Charles' February 8th Statement, Jody had spent the night in the trailer, sleeping on the living room couch (T. 347). Charles' story changed only after Paige went to the police, and he was arrested and charged with murder.

Charles also faced prosecution on other charges. At trial, Jody's attorney attempted to present to the jury the fact that Charles and Jody had been partners in a criminal enterprise. They, along with a third person had stolen scrap metal from Georgia Pacific on a semi-regular basis and sold it. In March 1983, they had discovered by transporting it to Jacksonville and selling it there, considerably more money could be made. In fact, the proceeds from the mid-March sale was nearly \$1200. Denise Easter knew of this illegal business, but defense counsel was precluded from questioning her regarding it (R. 1930-37). Defense counsel was also precluded from cross-examining Charles about the illegal nature of this business, although he was permitted to inquire regarding the fact there was a business and \$1200 in proceeds from it (R. 2183-95). Charles denied that he had bad blood with Jody over this business and denied ever telling Paige that he was having trouble with Jody (R. 2172).

Defense counsel did not ask about immunity for the criminal enterprise because he did not know that Charles had confessed this criminal enterprise to the prosecuting attorney, James Dunning. Mr. Dunning testified at the Rule 3.850 evidentiary hearing that Charles Westberry told him about this scrap metal business after a contract of immunity regarding the murder charges had been entered into (T. 753). This contract was signed July 19, 1983. Mr. Dunning received the information about the illegal scrap metal business directly from Westberry; the sheriff's office was not involved. Mr. Dunning explained that Westberry received "a limited grant of immunity" regarding the stolen scrap

metal (T. 755-56).

Charles Westberry testified at the evidentiary hearing about his understanding regarding possible charges over the scrap metal business:

Q Isn't it fair to say that you knew Mr. Dunning wouldn't prosecute you?

A I suppose.

* * *

Q As far as you know could Mr. Dunning have prosecuted you for the scrap metal business at anytime he chose?

A I'm sure he could have.

Q And is that something that has worried you even up until today?

A In a way, yes.

(T. 697-99).

Howard Pearl, Mr. Wright's defense counsel, was never informed of this "limited grant of immunity." He in fact was led to believe that the contract of immunity was the extent of their understanding. Discovery in this case was conducted through the prosecutor, Mr. Dunning. Mr. Pearl and his investigator, Freddie Williams, were not to be provided with any police reports directly. All reports and statements were to be dispersed by Mr. Dunning and signed for by either Mr. Pearl or Mr. Williams (T. 308-42). According to the signed receipts, a copy of the contract of immunity was provided to the defense on July 19, 1983 (T. 321). However, no disclosure regarding the scrap metal business and the "limited grant of immunity" regarding it was provided.

No discovery was provided as to Wanda Brown, Charlene Luce, Kimberly Holt, Henry Jackson, or Clayton Strickland. These individuals' names were not provided to defense counsel as witnesses under Rule 3.220, nor were there statements disclosed. The sworn statements of Ms. Brown, Ms. Luce, and Ms. Holt made Strickland and Jackson prime suspects in the murder.

Strickland and Jackson were roommates and drinking companions. According to former Deputy Taylor Douglas, Jackson and Strickland:

lived in a very, very old trailer, not very well kept, poorly, poorly kept, as a matter of fact. And I'm sure they lived from day to day on collecting bottles and doing odd jobs. And they used a lot of their money for alcohol. And they drank and argued on a regular basis. And I think that most of the neighbors that knew of them would certainly agree to that.

(T. 959). In 1979, Henry Jackson was convicted of burglarizing Earl Smith's residence (T. 965). Earl Smith was Ms. Smith's brother and lived across the street from her. Jackson had also been previously convicted of a homicide (T. 814). In fact, Mr. Dunning, Jody Wright's prosecutor, had been Jackson's public defender on the homicide charge (T. 720).

Charlene Luce gave the police the following sworn handwritten statement on February 9, 1983:

Friday afternoon about 3:30 to 4:00 Strickland dress in lime green shirt, tan plaid pants, with plaid sport coat [initialed] sport don't match. Strickland looks about 38-39 years old. I was in the yard picking up sticks. Jackson and Strickland were arguing about clothes and money. Then Strickland called me to the fence ask me to put some meat in my freezer. I said no. I was afraid [sic] that Henry would be mad if his meat was gone. Then, Strickland started talking about he didn't like anyone missing [sic] with his clothes. Told me about shaving and [initialed] taking a cold bath. Also told he was from Texas and had been here about two weeks. Then talked about he wasn't scared of Leroy or Henry they may kill me but I'm not scared of anyone. I walk away. Strickland still fussing about his clothes. Jackson throw blue trunk outside on the ground. Jackson went back into the trailor [sic]. By this time I was near the fence agian [sic]. Jackson came back to the door with a knife in right hand. He was very upset. I yelled at him to clam [sic] down and take a deep breath. Jackson was wearing blue jeans. No shirt. Strickland walk fast to the back of the trailor. [initialed] Knife blade [initialed] was short. Didn't see knife handle. Then Jackson walked closer to the fence talking about he was white man and always will [initialed] be. Had red plaid shirt in hand. Jackson told me that Strickland had his money and he wanted it. I walked away and went inside.

Sunday about 4:30 or 5:00 afternoon I when [sic] outside to get something out of the freezer when Jackson called me to the fence. To tell me that Miss Smith was kill. Then I asked Jackson if he did it. He turn red in the face and turned away. I'm just joking. Strickland was talking didn't understand what was said. Then Jackson told that Miss Smith gave him the best Christmas gift a box of candy. Mr. Smith gave him a carton of cig. He talked about cutting some

tries down for Miss Smith. I could [not] believe that Miss Smith was dead. Why, her? Jackson said that Miss Smith told him that she didn't kept [sic] money at home.

(T. 302-03).

Wanda Brown gave the police the following sworn handwritten statement on February 7, 1983:

On Saturday, February 5, 1983 while in the process of delivering mail I turned right off of Florida Avenue onto Third Avenue and proceeded west towards Highway 19. I first observed Ms. Smith inside of her fenceline motioning with her hand to a white male subject to move on towards on easterly direction on Third Avenue. At this time the male subject shook his arm at Ms. Smith and walked towards the middle of the road in front of my vehicle. I stopped and he walked up to the side of my Jeep. At this time I realized he was intoxicated. He asked me why there was usually a man Mail Carrier but today it was a woman. I then asked what he wanted and he asked if I had his check. I then asked who he was and he replied "Strickland, I live with Henry Jackson (Henry Jackson lives at Rt. 5 Box 184 Oakwood Ave.)" I then told him I had no mail for that box. He then replied "I need my check I need some money. Have you got some money I can have?" I then became scared and drove away. When I last saw him he was walking east on Third Avenue. Ms. Smith was still standing in her yard and watching this take place.

Strickland was wearing plaid slacks and a plaid sports coat that clashed in color and design. His speech was slurred and he was having difficulty standing.

(T. 301).

Kimberly Holt gave the police the following sworn typed statement on February 28, 1983:

- Q. The Putnam County Sheriff's Office is conducting an investigation into the stabbing death of Lima Paige Smith. Do you have any information in this investigation that would be helpful?
- A. Yes Sir, it may be helpful. I was employed at Miller's Supermarket located at Westgate Shopping Center, from Oct 1982 through Feb 1, 1983. I was a cashier. On Feb 6, 1983 I was working the 3 to 10 PM Shift. A man came through my check-out line with fresh scratch marks on his face. He is in the store alot but I don't know his name. He always pays with food stamps or bottles. The man was in line and when it got his turn to check out, he said "How you doing good look'in." I Kinda ignored him. The [sic] brought two cases of beer, Old Milkawuee [sic], and paid with it with a One Hundred Dollar Bill. He took it out of his wallet and I could see another One Hundred Dollar bill in his wallet. He said "I got money today." Then he asked me if I knew that Mrs Smith was dead? I said pardon me? Then he said "Did you know Ms. Smith was dead?" I said "That is terrible, I can't believe that anyone would kill a beautiful woman like that."

He asked me what time I got off of work? I told him that I got off at 7 o"clock in the morning when I actually get off at 10PM. I told him that because I was scared of him. Then he left.

- Q. What time was this man in the store?
- A. At 4:30 PM. I remember because I looked at the clock when he was checking out.
- Q. Is the man that you identified in the white male "mug" book, the same individual you stated that had the scratch marks on his face. (The person identified is Henry Jackson).

A. Yes it is. (T. 304).

Defense counsel did learn of Ms. Holt in July, 1983, due to his own investigate efforts. But by that time, she was uncertain of the day on which she had seen Henry Jackson. Counsel did not know that she had previously been able to state under oath that her conversation with Mr. Jackson was occurring virtually simultaneously with Earl Smith's call to the sheriff's office reporting Ms. Smith's death.

Defense counsel was also not provided with either Mr. Jackson's or Mr. Strickland's statements dated February 10, 1983. According to Mr. Jackson, the scratches on his face were received in a fight on Sunday night. According to Mr. Strickland he had last seen Ms. Smith the "Tuesday or Wednesday" of the previous week. Mr. Jackson and Mr. Strickland both indicated that they had been home on Saturday night. ("We went to bed pretty early" Jackson statement T. 378) ("Henry and I had been drinking alot on Saturday and was pretty high. We went to bed around eight o'clock I guess. I didn't get up until Sunday morning and I made some coffee for Henry and I. Henry and I stayed at the trailer all morning" (Strickland statement T. 379). Of course, Jody Wright's jury heard

 $^{^6}$ Ms. Holt said that these scratches were already on his face at 4:30 pm, Sunday afternoon (T. 304).

⁷Wanda Brown said that Mr. Strickland had a confrontation with Ms. Smith on Saturday, approximately twenty four hours before Ms. Smith's body was found (T. 301).

none of this information regarding Strickland and Jackson.

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