IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 74,775

JOEL DALE WRIGHT,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PUTNAM COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

Barbara C. Davis ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLA. BAR # 410519 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

and serious omission measurably below that of competent counsel." Knight v. State, 394 So.2d 997, 1001 (Fla. 1981). Therefore, both claims of ineffective trial counsel included in Claim [IX] are denied.

(T 1089-90).

The scope of cross examination is within the discretion of the trial court. <u>Demps v. State</u>, 395 So.2d 501, 505 (Fla. 1981).

XII

THE CLAIM THAT TRIAL COUNSEL FAILED TO REQUEST A CHANGE OF VENUE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND WITHOUT MERIT.

Wright contends he was prejudiced by pretrial publicity, failure of the trial court to change venue, and denial of the motion for individual sequestered voir dire. He also contends counsel's failure to request a change of venue was ineffective assistance.

This issue is procedurally barred for failure to raise it on direct appeal. <u>Henderson v. State</u>, 522 So.2d 835 (Fla. 1988). Raising the claim as ineffective assistance of counsel does not resurrect a barred claim. <u>Woods v. State</u>, 531 So.2d 79 (Fla. 1988).

Judge Perry found that the challenge to venue was barred.

Defendant alleges in [Claim IV] that the failure to change venue violated Constitutional several amendments. Challenges to venue should be raised on direct appeal and are, therefore, not cognizable on motion for relief а Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850 pursuant to Henderson v. State, 522 So.2d 835 (Fla. Additionally, the Defendant was 1988). allowed additional pre-emptory strikes,

larger venire panel, and an а opportunity to renew the motion to change venue if an impartial jury could be empaneled. Defense counsel not evidently believed he had a fair and impartial jury because he had approximately three strikes two to remaining after a panel was selected. Consequently, this claim does not warrant relief. An excerpt of testimony by defense counsel is attached hereto as Exhibit "9".

(T 1087).

Whether to allow sequestered and individual voir dire is within the discretion of the trial court. Lambrix v. State, 529 So.2d 1110 (Fla. 1988); Davis v. State, 461 So.2d 67, 69 (Fla. 1984); Stone v. State, 378 So.2d 765 (Fla. 1979). The record shows counsel believed he had an impartial jury. Wright has failed to show that there was any jury bias which prejudiced the outcome of the trial. Conclusory allegations are insufficient to warrant relief on an ineffective assistance claim. Kennedy v. State, 547 So.2d 912 (Fla. 1989). Absent a demonstration of partiality of his jury, and an abuse of discretion by the trial court, no basis for reversal is demonstrated. Davis, supra. See also Cummings v. Dugger, 862 F.2d 1504, 1507 (11th Cir. 1989); United States v. Holman, 680 F.2d 1340, 1344 (11th Cir. 1982). Counsel was not ineffective because he was satisfied with the jury chosen and there was no reason to change venue. Most There was no publicity was long before the trial (T 841). reference in the Palatka daily news about a sexual assault (T Mr. Pearl had discussed a change of venue with Judge 885). Perry, was given extra peremptory challenges, and informed that

if he could not seat an impartial jury the judge would change venue on his own motion (T 822). Wright can point to nothing partial or biased about the jury.

XIII

THE ISSUE OF WHETHER WRIGHT WAS ABSENT FROM THE COURTROOM WHILE THE COURT COMMUNICATED WITH JURORS DURING GUILT/INNOCENCE DELIBERATIONS IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND WITHOUT MERIT.

Wright alleges that although he was present when the judge refused the jury's request for testimony, he was not present when the judge communicated with the jury. ⁴ He also alleges ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to raise this issue.

This issue should have been raised on direct appeal and is procedurally barred. <u>Smith v. Dugger</u>, 15 F.L.W. S81 (Fla. Feb. 15, 1990); <u>Correll v. Dugger</u>, 15 F.L.W. S147 (Fla. March 16, 1990). Point 11 on appeal addressed Wright's absence during the inquiry of a juror and this issue could have been raised also. The trial court properly found the issue was procedurally barred (T 1090).

The record indicates the jury sent a question requesting testimony about a pubic hair. The judge discussed it with counsel and exchanged inquiries with the jury trying to narrow the question (R 2899-2907). The jury was brought in and the record reflects the defendant was present (R 2908).

⁴ Wright's record cite, R 2050-2052, involves expert testimony regarding fingerprints.

Wright claims there is new case law which makes this claim cognizable on a 3.850 motion, citing Hildwin v. State, 531 So.2d 124 (Fla. 1988), and Rhodes v. State, 547 So.2d 1201 (Fla. 1989). Both Hildwin and Rhodes were direct appeal cases. In Hildwin, the court found that any error was harmless where both counsel made their positions known. In Hildwin, the judge did not bring the jury into the courtroom. In the present case, the judge conferred with both counsel and brought the jury into the courtroom with the defendant present. In Rhodes, the judge responded to a juror question without notifying the defendant or either counsel. The judge informed the jurors they might be polled on their penalty recommendation. This court held the error was not harmless because the recommendation of death may have been affected by a juror's concern his recommendation would be announced in open court.

Not only are the above cases inapposite to the present case, but those cases did not involve a change in law. Onlv major constitutional changes which constitute a development of fundamental significance are cognizable in a motion for post conviction relief, even in death cases. State v. Glenn, 15 FLW S69 (Fla. Feb. 15, 1990). Even if the cases did constitute a change in law, the United States Supreme Court has recently issued two opinions which preclude raising a change in law in collateral proceedings. Butler v. McKellar, 4 FLW Fed. S161, Case No. 88-6677 (March 5, 1990); Saffle v. Parks, 4 FLW Fed. 88-1264 (March 5, 1990). S134, Case No. Wright has not demonstrated that his case fits into an exception for such rule.

- 49 -

Even if there was error, it was harmless and Wright was not prejudiced. See Garcia v. State, 492 So.2d 360 (Fla. 1986).

The claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is a disguised attempt to litigate a claim which is procedurally barred. <u>Clark v. State</u>, 460 So.2d 886 (Fla. 1984); <u>Quince v.</u> <u>State</u>, 477 So.2d 535 (Fla. 1985). Wright has shown neither deficient performance nor prejudice as required by Strickland.

XIV

THE CLAIM THAT DEFENSE COUNSEL TO REQUEST, AND FAILED COURT THE ERRED BY NOT GIVING Α JURY INSTRUCTION VOLUNTARY REGARDING INTOXICATION AND SPECIFIC INTENT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Wright argues that the absence of the voluntary intoxication instruction relieved the state of its burden of proving intent beyond a reasonable doubt and prevented the jury from considering guilt for a lesser offense. He maintains there was sufficient evidence to require the instruction and counsel was ineffective for failing to request the instruction.

The trial court found:

In Claim XI, the defendant alleges that the jury should have been instructed on voluntary intoxication. Clearly, challenges to jury instructions should be raised on direct appeal. Henderson As to the issue v. State, supra. that trial counsel was ineffective for request failing to an instruction on voluntary intoxication, the Supreme Court of Florida held in Buford v. State, 492 So.2d 355, 359 (Fla. 1986), that the decision to include a voluntary intoxication instruction is tactical and, therefore, not subject to

collateral attack. Defense counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that he had considered the instruction and had rejected it. An excerpt from the defense counsel's testimony at the evidentiary hearing is attached hereto as Exhibit "13". This Court will not second guess strategy employed by trial counsel.

(T 1090).

As the trial court observed, the issue should have been raised on appeal. Point VI on appeal concerned the trial court's refusal to instruct on circumstantial evidence, and any other issue regarding jury instructions could have been raised. Although Wright says there was substantial evidence to support the instruction, this assumption is not evident from the record. In fact, requesting the instruction never occurred to counsel.

A jury instruction need not be given simply because there is evidence of alcohol consumption. If there is evidence of the use of intoxicants but not intoxication, a jury instruction is not required. <u>Edwards v. State</u>, 15 F.L.W. D383, 384n.1 (Fla. 1st DCA, Feb. 1, 1981); <u>Lambrix v. State</u>, 534 So.2d 1151 (Fla. 1988).

Since the theory of defense was innocence, trying to establish that Wright was intoxicated is inconsistent with this negation of guilt. Consequently, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to request a voluntary intoxication instruction. <u>See Combs v. State</u>, 525 So.2d 853 (Fla. 1988); <u>Harich v. State</u>, 484 So.2d 1239 (Fla. 1984).

XV

THE CLAIM THAT THE STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTIONS SHIFT THE BURDEN OF PROOF IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND WITHOUT MERIT. This court has rejected appellant's argument on the merits. <u>Arango v. State</u>, 411 So.2d 172 (Fla. 1982); <u>Preston v. State</u>, 531 So.2d 154 (Fla. 1988).

As the trial court found, the issue is procedurally barred for failure to raise it on direct appeal (T 1091). Jones v. 530 So.2d 293 (Fla. 1988). This court precluded Dugger, retroactive application of Adamson v. Ricketts, 865 F.2d 1011 (9th Cir. 1988), in Clark v. Dugger, 15 F.L.W. S50 (Fla. Feb. 1, The United States Supreme Court recently decided a 1990). similar issue adverse to Wright's position. Blystone v. Pennsylvania, 4 F.L.W. Fed. S99 Case No. 88-6222 (Feb. 28, 1990). Neither does this issue present a true Hitchcock ⁵ claim which Wright cites in an attempt to avoid a procedural bar because the judge and jury were not restricted in any way from considering nonstatutory mitigation. See Adams v. State, 543 So.2d 1244 (Fla. 1989).

XVI

WRIGHT'S <u>CALDWELL</u> CLAIM IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND WITHOUT MERIT.

This court has repeatedly rejected claims based on <u>Caldwell</u> <u>v. Mississippi</u>, 472 U.S. 320 (1985). <u>Brown v. State</u>, 15 F.L.W. S165 (Fla. March 30, 1990).

Substantive claims based on <u>Caldwell</u> can and should be raised on appeal, if preserved at trial, and are, therefore, procedurally barred in post conviction proceedings. <u>King v.</u> <u>Dugger</u>, 15 F.L.W. S11 (Fla. Jan. 4, 1990); <u>Dugger v. Adams</u>, 109

⁵ Hitchcock v. Dugger, 107 S.Ct. 1821 (1987).

S.Ct. 1211 (1989); <u>Atkins v. Dugger</u>, 541 So.2d 1165 (Fla. 1989); <u>Jones v. Dugger</u>, 533 So.2d 290 (Fla. 1988). Furthermore, <u>Caldwell</u> is inapplicable in Florida. <u>Combs v. State</u>, 525 So.2d 853 (Fla. 1988); <u>Grossman v. State</u>, 525 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1988). The trial court properly found the issue procedurally barred (T 1091).

XVII

THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE OF HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS AND CRUEL WAS CONSTITUTIONALLY APPLIED.

This court has repeatedly rejected claims based on <u>Maynard</u> <u>v. Cartwright</u>, 108 U.S. 1853 (1988). <u>Brown v. State</u>, 15 F.L.W. S165 (Fla. March 30, 1990). As the trial court found, the issue is procedurally barred for failure to raise it on direct appeal and is without merit (T 1091). Furthermore, <u>Maynard</u> is inapposite to Florida's death penalty sentencing. <u>Brown v.</u> <u>State</u>, 15 F.L.W. S165 (Fla. March 22, 1990); <u>Clark v. Dugger</u>, 15 F.L.W. S50 (Fla. Feb. 1, 1990); <u>Smalley v. State</u>, 546 So.2d 720 (Fla. 1989); <u>Smith v. Dugger</u>, 15 F.L.W. S81, S82 n.3 (Fla. Feb. 15, 1990).

XVIII

THE CLAIM THAT THE INSTRUCTIONS INCORRECTLY INFORMED THE JURY AS TO WHAT AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES COULD BE CONSIDERED IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND WITHOUT MERIT.

Wright claims that because the instructions "duplicated" the aggravating circumstance of pecuniary gain and committed during a burglary, the jury's recommendation of death was "skewed."

- 53 -

As the trial court found, this issue should have been raised on direct appeal and is procedurally barred (T 1092). McCrae v. State, 510 So.2d 874 (Fla. 1987).

Wright contends this is a <u>Hitchcock</u> violation, but this is not a true Hitchcock claim at all. There was no limitation placed on the consideration of non-statutory mitigating circumstances, nor did the judge err in instructing the jury on the inability to consider non-statutory mitigation. A <u>Hitchcock</u> violation is one in which either 1) efforts to introduce nonstatutory mitigation were thwarted or 2) both the judge and jury were under the impression nonstatutory evidence could not be considered. Adams v. State, 543 So.2d 1244, 1247 (Fla. 1989).

The trial judge instructed the jury that the aggravating circumstances they could <u>consider</u> were 1) committed during burglary and rape; 2) committed for financial gain; 3) heinous, atrocious and cruel; and 4) cold, calculated and premeditated. He did not say these were the aggravating factors that had been proven, only that they could consider these. He did not instruct on the avoid lawful arrest factor, which is a factor this court upheld. Any error was harmless and whether the jury was instructed on an aggravating circumstance which the judge did not find, is irrelevant. <u>Stewart v. State</u>, 15 F.L.W. S138 (Fla. March 5, 1990).

In fact, this court upheld Wright's death sentence after the cold, calculated and premeditated factor was stricken. This is proper. <u>Clemons v. Mississippi</u>, 4 F.L.W. Fed. S224 (April 6, 1990).

- 54 -

Wright cites not one case to support his allegation that it is an improper doubling to instruct on the two aggravating circumstances. Under the circumstances of this case, both aggravating factors were proper. <u>See Brown v. State</u>, 473 So.2d 1260 (1985); Routly v. State, 440 So.2d 1257 (Fla. 1983).

XIX

THE ISSUE WHETHER NON-STATUTORY AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES WERE INTRODUCED DURING THE PENALTY PHASE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND WITHOUT MERIT.

Wright claims that the introduction of documents regarding improperly contributed to the jury's his juvenile record recommendation. This is not a true Hitchcock claim as previously discussed. As the trial court found, the issue is procedurally barred for failure to raise it on appeal (T 1092). The trial court also found that counsel was not ineffective because he made a tactical decision which would not be second quessed (T 1092). that Wright has cited no authority for his allegations introduction pursuant to stipulation by defense counsel was Neither has he explained how the juvenile record was a error. nonstatutory aggravator. Mr. Pearl's objection to the information was because it charged burglary of a dwelling when Wright had been convicted of burglary of a structure. He did not object to introduction of the judgment and sentence on the burglary charge (R 835, 2940). Furthermore, the state was allowed to introduce evidence of prior criminal activity not only under the court's ruling that it was admissible under section 921.141 Florida Statutes (1983), but also because it was a trade

off for the defense introducing the psychological report (R 2940-41). The evidence was relevant to the mitigating circumstance of "no prior criminal activity." It was not introduced for the purpose of aggravation.

XX

THE JURY WAS NOT MISINFORMED OF ITS FUNCTION AND THIS ISSUE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Wright contends that the prosecutor's comments and judge's instructions improperly informed the jury they must return a majority vote in the penalty phase. This issue is procedurally barred for failure to object or raise the issue on direct appeal. Henderson, supra; Preston v. State, 531 So.2d 154 (Fla. 1988); Buenoano v. Dugger, 15 F.L.W. S165 (Fla. April 5, 1990). Harich v. State, 437 So.2d 1082 (Fla. 1983) and Rose v. State, 425 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1982) were decided before the direct appeal was filed, and the issue could have been raised. Wright also concedes that the judge informed the jury that a recommendation of life could be made by a 6-6 vote (R 3001). Therefore, the jury was properly instructed pursuant to Harich. The jury returned а recommendation of 9-3 so the issue is moot.

XXI

WRIGHT'S CLAIM THAT HOWARD PEARL'S STATUS AS AN HONORARY DEPUTY SHERIFF CREATED A PREJUDICIAL CONFLICT OF INTEREST IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND WITHOUT MERIT. NO EVIDENTIARY HEARING IS NECESSARY.

Wright's final claim is that his attorney, Howard Pearl, was an active law enforcement officer which created a conflict of interest which was presumptively prejudicial. Wright also claims an evidentiary hearing is necessary, as it was in <u>Harich v.</u> State, 542 So.2d 980 (Fla. 1989).

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